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ABSTRACT

Archaeological excavations conducted during the 1968 field
season at Fort Beausejour National Historic Park, New Brunswick
revealed the remains of one of the guardhouses constructed by the
British subsequent to the capture of the fort from the French in
1755, The remains found confirm the location of the structure
as well as indicating it was a one-room, brick-and-timber building
with a fireplace at the east end. The building was demolished
in approximately 1800. The structure probably served through
military occupations in 1755-1768 and 1776-1793.

Information from the research sheds light on general con-
struction methods of the period, and most importantly on the
relationship and original appearance of the structure to associ-

ated features in the vicinity.
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PREFACE

The excavation of the 2E25 guardhouse was carried out from
July 22 to September 5, 1968 under the general direction of
Mr. Jervis D. Swannack, Senior Archaeologist for the National
Historic Sites oervice. The field work was conducted by the
writer, a site assistant, with an average of three men working
full-time. At.all times the excavation and recording system
of the National Historic Sites Service was utilized (Riek n.d.).

I wish to give special thanks to the following individuals
for their respective contributions of personality and their
loyalty to the tedius excavation of this small and poorly
preserved structure: Charles King, David Smith, Bruce Davis,
and Al Goodwin.

Thanks go to Miss Jane Macaulay for the sketches of the
reconstructed elements of the building and it's related features.
Valuable interpretive aid was provided by Miss DiAnn Herst,
Assistant Field Director of the Fort Beausejour Project, Mr.
Peter Priess, Mr. Jack Richardson, Mr. Albert Wilson, and Mr.
Steve Sheridan of National Historic Sites Service. Nearly every
member of the research staff of the National Historic Sites
oervice has contributed in some way and my appreciation is

extended to all.



CHAPTIR 1
INTRODUCT ION

The present report is designed to give a formal presentation
of the archaeological research on one of the guardhouses at Fort
Beausejour, New Brunswick. The report will emphasize the following
points: structural information and intervretation of the excavated
feature; interpretive discussion of the stratigraphy; and an
integration of the guardhouse into the general picture of the
structural history of Fort Beausejour. The report will discuss
the correlation of lots and their interpreted proveniences.

Fort Beausejour is located on the Chignecto Isthmus at
the Nova Scotia-New Brunswick border near the north coast of the
Bay of Fundy, at Aulac, N.B. approximately three miles east of
Sackville, N.B. |

The investigations were designated as operation 2E25 which
1s defined as the excavation of the area on the east side and
within the earthworks of the British entrance. The excavations
were adjacent to the curtain wall leading from Prince Frederick
Bastion to the east side of the British entrance, and were made
in an effort to locate, expose and define the remains of the
British guardhouse located in this area between 1756 and

approximately 1850 (Fig. 1; Nadon 1966).



The results of the excavations were the location, definition,
and confirma%ion of the razed, highly eroded, and poorly preserved
remains of approximately one-half of the guardhouse constructed
on the east side of the British entrance in 1756 (Nadon 1966:

L: 13; Figs. 1,2,10,11).

The excavation of the guardhouse remains consisted of a
series of narrow parallel trenches running into the curtain be-
hind the structure, with another series of trenches crossing
perpendicular to these trenches and parallel to the curtain wall
(Fig. 5). ‘“hen the eastern extreme of the building had been
located it was necessary to establish how much further back into
the curtain the structure extended. An extension of one of the
previous trenches was continued into the curtain for a distance
of three feet. This extension showed the remains of the south
foundation; another series of trenches was then excavated along
the predicted line of this foundation. The result was that
eventually, by this series of small trenches, the remains of a
diagonal one-half of the structure were located (Fig. 2). The
slope of the curtain yielded better preserved structural remains
the deeper the excavations vprogressed into them. The outer
limits of the structure on the north and west were so badly eroded

by water action from a later drain built partially through the



structure (Fig. 2) that few traces were located in the short
time spent researching this area. It was not until the south-
esst corner was excavated that any substantial remains were
found.

A total of 15 sub-operations (Fig. 5) were utilized; they
included 2E25A through 28254 (excluding I and 0). A total of
62 lots were incorporated, civing an average of four lots per
sub-overation. In nearly all instances the lots correspond to
natural stratigraphic layers, however several lots were excavated
arbitrari.y. The sub-operations are in all cases based on
predominately arbitrary decisions. The excavation was carried
out with shovel and trowel. No power equipment was utilized.

It is to oe noted that due to the highly eroded and poorly
rreserved remains encountered, a great amount of the information
obtained is of the negative nature. In many cases the data
recorded for the excavation is so very sparse that it is incon-

clusive and not interoretable.



CHAPTER 2
STRUCTURAL REMAINS

The remains of the guardhouse have allowed for some general
observations concerning its original configuration and construc-
tion to be made. The building was a one-room, single-storied
building measuring 21 ft. by 27 ft. It was of brick and timber
construction built on a simple stone foundation at ground surface,
and had a single open fireplace.

The structural remains of the building include portions of
the fireplace, foundation, floor joists and flooring, and elements
of a brick and timber wall. Other than a few scattered portions
of other elements of the structure, the above listed remains con-
stitute the total remaining evidence (Fig. 2).

As can be seen in Figure 2, the entire south side of the
building measured 27 ft.; the width was approximately 21 ft.;
although this is only an interpretation based on a projection of
the remains of the east end of the building. The remains of a
large firevlace were located against the east wall, presumably
in the center. The overall dimensions of the fireplace are 10
ft. wide by 7 ft. in depth. The wall remains consist of up to
ten horizontal brick courses rested directly on top of a sleeper-

beam which runs under all the brick wall remains and is suppor-



ted by the stones of the foundation (Fig. 2). There is evidence
of verfical uprights and horizontal facing or siding for the
walls which will be discussed in detail. The foundation is com-
posed of a row of ummortared fieldstones, one stone in width,
extending just slightly beyond the wall remains. Joined to the
sleeper underlying the wall are the remains of eight joists for
the flooring, of which a few badly decayed vortions remained
(Figs. 2,12,15).

The individual discussion of the specific elements of the
structure will be dealt with in outline form beginning with the
foundation so that the discussion can develop from the "ground
up”.

Foundation

The foundation remains (Figs. 2, 12) consist of an L-shaped
line of stones apparently re:ting on the old ground surface.
ividence for a foundation trench was not found.

The foundation stones are a grey crystalline limestone
fieldstone. In some cases they are split, but in few are they
dressed to any avpreciable extent. They are placed end-to-end,
unmortared, in a row one stone wide, and originally probably

ran under the complete outline of the building (Figs. 2, 12).



The dimensions of the stones are approximately 1.5 ft. long by
1 ft. wide by .5 ft. thick. The elevations of the stones vary
only slightly along the entire outline of the structure. The
elevations range from 125.60 ft. A.S.L. to 125.81 ft. A.S.L.
The elevation of 125.80 ft. A.S.L. is representative of the top
of the general foundation level. Even with its simplicity, the
foundation would have to be described as well-planned and con-
structed, due to the regularity of the elevations, size of the
stones, and the good general aligmment of the foundation stones.
floor

The floor of the structure consists of boards running east-
west longitudinally supported by a series of parallel joists
running north-south across the width of the building (Figs. 2,k,
12): The remains of the floor boards were badly decayed and in
most cases had decomposed. Due to this poor preservation it is
not possible to make any statements concerning the dimensions
of the floor boards. The floor boards were nailed to the joists.
An attempt was made to mark the locations of the nails as they
were found; however, this was soon abandoned as nails from many
parts of the structure were scattered throughout the floor area.
No patterns were discernable and it was not possible to separate
or differentiate the various scattered nails from the original

flooring nails.



The floor joists consisted of seven north-south beams
placed at intervals of approximately 2.5 ft. edge-to-edge. They
would have originally measured approximately 6 in. wide and some-
where in the area of 20 ft. long (the internal width of the
building), except in the vicinity of the fireplace (Fig. 4).
Their original thickness is impossible to ascertain.

In the present discussion the term "joist" is applied to the
parallel timbers that hold up the planks of a floor (Guralnik and
Friend 1962: 790). The term "sleeper" is used to indicate a
timber or beam laid horizontally, as on the ground, to support
something above it (Guralnik and Friend 1962: 1371).

The joists were attached to a sleeper beam lying on top of
the foundation at each side (Figs. 2,4,12). The sleeper's
dimensions are not known, again this is due to the state of
preservation. It may have bren necessary to utilize two segments
set end-to-end to reach.the length of 26 ft. The wood was so
badly deteriorated in both the sleeper and joists that it was not
possible to state precisely what type of joint was used in all
of these connections; although, after careful study of the joint
remalns and the location of one intact joint in the structure

(Fig. ha: pt. 1) it is suspected that the joists were attached



to the sleeper with an "inset" butt joint, as opposed to a direct
butt or a mortise-tenon (Fig. ha-b).

The joists were supported at irregular intervals across the
structure with stones set on the ground surface (Fig. 2).

The original floor level was approximately 126,3 ft. A.S.L.
The reconstructed sub-floor system is shown in Figures 3 and 4.
Walls

The wall remains show that the walls of the structure were
comnposed of vertical posts set at intervals of 2.5 ft. and joined
to the sleeper beam along the top of the foundation. The exterior
of the structure was covered with horizontal board siding or
facing attached to these uprights. The space between the uprights
was filled with brick coursing set directly on the sleeper beam
as either an interior "wainscotting" or as a wall fill with an
interior facing of wood applied over it. The image resultant
from this interpretation is that the walls of the building were
heavy and solid. Wainscotting is usually used to indicate the
lower portion of a room when it has a finish different from that

of the upper (Guralnik and Friend 1962).



A large sleeper beam formed the major support of the walls.
This sleeper beam, whose remains indicate it was a rather sub-
stantizl structural member, perhaps as large as 6 in. by 6 in.,
was laid directly on top of the fdundation stones (Fig., 2). There
nossibly were several shorter beams laid end-to-end to form the
length necessary to run the entire length of the structure,
although it is also possible that one long beam could have been
usei., The sleeper was very badly compressed and horizontally
distorted so that little can be said of it. Its major interest
regarding our discussion i1s in its relationship to other struct-
ural elements.

Uprights

The evidence for vertical posts as part of tﬁe orimary con-
struction are postulated from indirect evidence, as there is only
the sparsest physical remains of them.

The most significant evidence for the existence of vertical
posts is shown in Figure 2(also Figs. 13, 14). At the southeast
corner there is an obvious "gap" in the joining of the sleepers
and the brick coursing. The nearly squére and perfectly open

corner indicates that a large, probably square-sided beam was
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located at this point. This evidence is in keeping with normal
building structural recuirements (Richardson 1969). Some form
of support simply had to exist at this point. The very obvious
"flimsyness" of the brick coursing alone would indicate that the
brick was used only in coniunction with other structural elements.
It is not felt that a simple brick wall composed of brick singly
coursed in a "common" bond pattern (Rick 1962) would be at all
structurally sound. Figure 4b: pt. b shows this corner point
and it's inferred general configuration. That there was a post
at this point is accepted by the researcher and this time is
nrojected for all four corners of the structure (Fig. 4a: pts.
b,f,g,h).

There is slight evidence of possible vertical remains of
other nosts (Fig. La, b,c: pts. c,d; Fig. 2). This evidence
consists of a very few fibers of vertical wood grain. If the
"as found" drawing (Fig. 2) will again be consulted, it will be
noted that at these points and at nearly regular intervals of
roughly 2.5 ft. along the east-west length of the foundation,
sleeper and brick coursing, there are rough gaps and some hori-
zontal disvlacement of the sleeper and brick. This would indi-

cate and is postulated as evidence of vertical uprights having
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been forcefully wrenched from their original positions in the
wall., It is not known if these beams were of the same dimen-
sions as those at the corners, but they apparently did exist
end must have been an integral portion of the construction.

The method by which these uprights were joined to the
sleeper is not known, but three possibilites are given in Figure
4 d,e. They are in order: mortise-tenon, direct butt, and
modified halflap.

At point a (Fig. 4a) there were two large wrought iron
spikes driven from the outside between the bricks. These spikes
were found between the second and third courses of brick. It
1s not known if these are evidence of an upright or simply the
exterior wood siding, which will be discussed shortly. An
upright at this point would be possible, but it is not neces-
sarily of the same size and structural importance as those at
the other points. There is no evidence that this uprizht (if
it existed) was set within the brick course as at other points,
as the brick portion of the wall at this point is continuous
and uninterrupted. It is felt that the vresence of the spikes
may indicate that they were used to secure wood siding to a

secondary point of wooden support.
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In the discussion thus far, an attempt has been made to
demonstrate the evidence for, and configuration of, a series of
vertical wooden posts attached to the sleeper which runs along
the top of the foundation. The posts were apparently placed at
intervals of roughly 2.5 ft.

To discuss the wood siding it is not possible to discuss any
direct evidence of its existence, as there is none. Before con-
tinuing, it is necessary to mention a few points which will be
discussed in detail at a later time, but that are fhe basis for
the internretation for wood siding. If our interpretation of
this structure is correct thus far, there was a series of vertical
posts, with a possibility of wood siding running horizontally
across the exterior. It would have been necessary for some
support to have been present in the building of the brick wall,
as 1t is felt that it would have been impractical to build such
a "flimsy" wall without such vertical supnort. If we can assume
for the moment that there was wooden siding present, then this
would have provided sound vertical support for such a construction.
“he south corner near the east end of the exterior surface of
the brick coursing showed a very heavy mortar surface. The por-

tion of the wall from which this mortar was observed collapsed
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prior to the plane-table recording, and it is not illustrated
in this report (68-16-118). Much of the mortar was eroded on
he surface, but good samples of the impressions in the mortar
are shown (Figs. 18,19). It was at first thought that these
"scars or striations" might be textural finishing of the wall
exterior. After careful examination, the consistent and nearly
perfect horizontal impressions clearly indicate wood grain im-
pressions. It was probable that the wet mortar recording these
wood grains be added after the wood, of which we have no direct
esvidence. The relationship of the brick to this siding is
illustratea in Figure 4b,c,f,g.
Brickwork of wall

The brickwork which sits directly on top of the sleeper
oeam between the uprights and against the postulated board siding
1s interpreted as having been either an interior finish in the

form of a "

wainscotting", or as a wall fill with additional wood
finishing covering it on the interior. The latter possibility
is preferred by A. Richardson (1969), as it is felt that within
the normal construction patterns of the time, a wall as poorly

out-torether as this would not have been left exposed in a
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British military structure. There is no evidence of such additional
finishing, and this question is, of necessity, left unresolved.

The total height of the brick coursing is not known, but it
was at least 15 courses, as reconstructed from the brick collapse
shown in Figure 13. This number of courses would have placed the
known height of the wall at approximately 3 ft. If it went any
higher is not known. If this is representative of the general
height of the coursing then the brick would have served as a form
of wainscotting. If not, then it would probably have been a gen-
eral wall fill, but it is not known if even this would have stood
as high as the complete and total height of the wall. Figure 4
f, g illustrates the two major possibilities for the purposes of
this brickwork.

The brick is mortared to the sleeper heam and is coursed in
a rough fashion resembling the "common bond" pattern (Rick).
The bricks are coﬁrsed lengthwise with the widths serving as the
horizontal contact surfaces (Fig. 13). This brickwork would not
appear to be an example of particularly good masonry.

The wall is composed of broken and some whole brick., It is
postulated that the bricks were re-utilized from some previous

structure (due to the broken lengths), or that they were possibly
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"wasters" from local brick manufacturing.

The brick from the intact portions of the guardhouse wall
is rather irregular, often with the sides overhanging where the
mold was in contact with it. This overhang tends to give the
brick a "lip" at the edges in many cases. It is irregular in
size, even in the complete specimens. The paste of the brick
contains large sand grains and often small fragments of brick,
in some cases up to .5 in. or so (approximate). The color is
variable, but is generally a deep red. The size as previously
mentioned is highly variable, but is an average of .61 ft. long,
.30 ft. wide, and .15 ft. thick as based on 30 complete specimens
measured from the structure. These bricks vary from .70 ft. to
.55 ft. long, .36 ft. to .25 ft. wide and .19 ft. to .14 ft.
thick. Additional measurements are available on another approx-
imately 400 individual whole and half-bricks (68-16-147).
Fireplace

Remains of a substantial fireplace (Figs. 2,12,15) were found
in a condition which allows for some comments concerning its
original configuration to be made. The overall dimensions
(horizontal) are approximately 7 ft. east-west by 10 ft. north-

south. Only the hearth and support base for the chimney were
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found intact. The fireplace had a hearth apron surrounding it

on three sides (Fig. 3). The fireplace was of brick and rubble
construction, but it is not. possible to make a statement about
the amounts of each or to interpret this construction. The fire-
box was composed of a horizontal brick coursing (Fig. 3). The
brick of the firebox was laid end-to-end on edre. The brick was
badly deteriorated due to prolonged exposure to heat, but appears
to be similar to the brick in the walls. It would have been
necessary to destroy the feature to obtain samples of this brick.

A portion of the north edge of the fireplace remains were
removed in an adjoining operation (2E16S) conducted earlier
(Zellar 1968). It was possible to implement simple projection
within the structure and to determine the overall dimensions of
the discussed elements and the subsequent reconstruction drawing
(Fig. 3).

The firebox of the hearth measures 6 ft. across the outer
edge, and 4 ft. across the back edge. The firebox was approx-
imately 2.5 ft. in depth. The original functional elevation of
the floor of the firebox was 126.6 ft. A.S.L. The apron of the
hearth was composed of fieldstones mortared together and

completely surrounding the fireplace on three sides. The apron
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extended approximately 2.5 ft. out into the room at the front
(Fig. 3) and anproximately 1 ft. on the sides of the fire-
place. The functional elevation of the apron was approximately
126.5 ft. A.S.L. which is nearly the same as for the firebox.

The lateral edges of the arron are stepped on the edges
in order to accommodate and support the floor joists which butted
there (Fig. 3). It is not known how the flooring system joined

| the apron at the front edge of the firevlace. It is possible
that there was another sleever beam here for that purpose (Fig.
ha: pt. j).

The plan of the structure showed some brick present out-
side of the firebox (Fig. 2). It is not known if this is an
indication that the superstructure of the fireplace was of brick,
but Figure 3 shows it as a speculation. The fireplace proper
may have been of rubble stone or of brick, or a combination of
both. The base of the fireplace is of rubble stone, mortared and
apparently set directly on original ground surface (Fig. 3). Its
elevation is approximotely 126.5 ft. A.3.L. It measures 4.5 ft.
east-west and 8 ft. north-south.

The firebox was probably brick lined (Fig. 2) which is

usual due to the necessity for withstanding intense heat. A postulated
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general configuration of the chimney is given in Figure 3.

Little comment is made on the relationship of the backside
of the fireplace and wall. It is possible that a wooden wall
ran against the back of the chimney, although the back of the
fireplace may have served as the wall.

Large amounts of rubble stone were found overlying the re-
mains of the structure, which may be evidence of the collapse of
a masonry chimney. An example of this rubble is shown in Figure
16. The specific rubble in this figure is also possibly some
unidentified feature such as revetting, stepping stones, etc.
Roof and other remains

There was no evidence to indicate the type of roof on the
guardhouse; a gabled roof is probable and a hip roof was possible
(Richardson 1969). In the reconstruction drawing (Fig. 10) it
is shown with a gabled roof. Nothing is known of the method of
shingling, although a piece of slate was found in the upper
levels of the excavation. The roof would probably have had either
slate or wooden shake shingles.

Une long beam was found overlying the floor remains. This
beam extended from under the collapsed brick wall in the south-
east corner to the southwest corner in an attitude perpendicular

to the joists of the floor. It is difficult to say for sure, but
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it is felt that this beam (even with its perfectly perpendicular
attitude to the rest of the floor joists) is a piece of the roof
superstructure, or interior finishing of the building, which was
carried down when the walls collapsed. It was a large beam,
possibly measuring as large as 4 in. or 6 in. thick, and may well
have been a sill which ran along the top of the wall. Other
scattered pieces of wood were found, but they must simply be attri-

buted to the debris that accompany the deterioration and collapse

of a building such as this.

It is not possible to discuss windows, doors, and similar
aspects of the structure in detail. It is possible to make a
few generalizations though. The building probably had windows.
There conceivably was one on both sides and at the west end.
There is no evidence of window pl:icement. The reconstruction
drawing (Fig. 10) shows such a window placement, but again, this
is only speculation.

It is probable, due to the size of the structure, that it
only had one door, and it 1is possible to speculate on the place-

ment of it. A por:cion of a "thumb-1lift" doorlatch was found in
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lot 2E25P2 which is a layer of occupational debris believed
associated with the structure's occupation. This latch was found
near the southwest corner of the building. It is felt that the
door of the building was located in the vicinity of the south-
3t corner of the building. This is borne out by the fact that
the lstch had portions present which would have originally been
mounted on the door frame as well as the door. Regardless, the
door would probably have been in the vicinity of the southwest
corner for functional purvoses also. The following evidence will
tend to support this hypothesis: the evidence from the door
latch, the necessity of a door in this area for ready access to
the main gate of the fort and to the other guardhouse at the main
gate, and most importantly the avparent and rich artifact-bearing
occunation £ill (Figs. 6, 17) which forms a strong inferred
association between the guardhouse, the entrance to the fort, and
a possible casemate in the curtain at that point. This subject
will be discussed in detaill in the historical discussion of the

report.
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STRAT IGRAPHY

The stratigraphy overlying the guardhouse remains is composed
of three major units. The drawings of the profiles made during
the course of the excavations show a great deal of "micro"-strati-
graphic detail that, within the broad designations of the three
basic components of the profile, can often give a very complex
and detailed image of the stratigraphy.

The first major unit, directly overlying or associated with
the guardhouse remains, 1s the accumulation of occupational debris
from the period of the structure's existence (layer I on illustra-
ted profiles). Overlying and practically inseparable from the
occurational debris 1s the material from and accompanying the des-
truction of the building; rubble stone, bricks, mortar, wood scraps,
etc., Filtering down over this remaining scattered structural
evidence is another accumulation of soil (layer II on illustrated
profiles); in this case soil which has moved down from the curtain
at the back of the structure (Fig. 6). This is the second major
comnonent. Last but not least, is the more recent topsoil and
sod develovment (layer III).

Figure 9 illustrates the overall profile at the west end of

the excavation. Figure 8 illustrates the profile overlying the
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major portion of the intact remains of the structure. Figure
7 gives an example of the profile running over the top of the
south wall of the structure in an east-west fashion. Figure 6
gives an example of the east-west profile against the very back
wall of the excavation unit, and 1s the master profile for the
area and demonstrates the stratigraphy of the curtain wall. EHach
of the major layers will be discussed and correlated with the
appropriate illustration.
Occupational unit, layer I

The soil directly associated with the occupation of the
structure consists of two elements, an organic soil layer and a
layer of overlying occupational debris.

In most cases the flooring and any other wood from the
building had decomposed and turned to an organic soil layer.
This layer is illustrated as layer 6 in Figure 8, where it is
shown as containing nails. These nails were added after the pro-
file was drawn in the field and are only generally representative
of the vprovenience of the nails found associated with this layer.

Directly overlying and inseparable from the decayed floor
remains i1s a layer of occupational debris. This soil matrix is

basically a silty clay and generally is dark reddish-brown



23

5YR 4/L. The layer contained fragments of wood believed associ-
ated with the structural elements of the building and contained
artifacts thought to be directly associated with the occupation
of the building. It is to be treated as having the same general
provenience as the material from the floor. It is shown as layer
L in Figure 8. This layer has association with occupation re-
lated debris on the exterior of the building which is illustrated
as layer 5 in Figure 8. Layer 4 in Figure 9 corresponds to the
material from the floor in Figure &, and layer 5 of Figure 9
corresnonds to layer 5 in Figure 8. Oﬁ both drawings these layers
are shown to contain artifacts which were placed on the drawing
after they were drawn in the field.

Directly overlying and often mixed with this major unit are
rubble, brick, and some wood scraps from the destruction of the
building. This material caussd the interface of layer I and II
to be irregular and often hard to separate which probably resulted
in some mixing of material from layer I and overlying layers

during excavation.
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Directly overlying the occupational layers previously
discussed is a layer of "till like soil" which has moved dowm
from the curtain wall at the back of the structure by the
process of earthflow. This material is described as "till like"
due to its content of unsorted grain sizes, and the fact that
the curtain is composed of culturally disturbed till from the
site. This material reflects the basic properties of a till
(see Appendix I), and although it is disturbed is best described
by this term. However, for the sake of continuity in terminology
with the rest of the site, the term "clay" has been used on the
illustrated soil profiles. This layer is basically a yellowish-
red 5YR 4/6. The layer is shown as layer 3 in Figures 8 and9.
Layer 2 Figure 6 shows the layer in relation to the stratigraphy
of the curtain from which it is derived. This layer moved down-
slope covering the remains of the guardhouse to varying depths,
but always indicates the major direction from which it moved.

I'he layer may have cultural materials from several different time
veriods nrezent in it. It didl serve to seal off the remains of
tne guardhouse from the more recent soil deposition. This move-

ment 1s probably still active.
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The layer shows some random internal units such as mortar,
brick chips, and general rubble, but little interpretive value
can be derived from these (FigS; 6,7,8,9).

Topsoil, laver IIL_

Directly overlying the curtain derived material previously
described is a more recent sod and topsoil development. This
soil is best described as & silty-loam. It is dark brown and
a 7.5YR 4/L. This soil may have been partially transported
downslope from the curtain, but some of it was probably wind
deposited. This layer is generally free of cultural debris,
particularly the upper portions of it. This layer is shown
as layers 1 and 2 in Figures 8 and 9.

It should be noted that in Figure 8, the stratigraphy of
sub-operation 2E25K only shows as two layers in the original
field drawing (68-16-D33) and that layer 6 was added when the
original drawing was interoreted. Figure 9 is an interpretive
drawing only, as there is no field drawing for this complete
profile.

Tre interior =lope of the curtain near the back wall of
the structure would have been considerably steeper than at
the time of excavation, and at least for a while was probably

generally clear of the building. It is sure that this slope
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was subject to soll movement also, and that it has been con-
stantly encroaching on the back of the guardhouse. It is not
possible to make vparticular statuents concerning this slope,
but we know that it was probsbly necessary for it to have been
revetted. However, Nadon (1966: G: 3) gives no documentation
for any specific interior revetting.

The slope of the curtain has apparently been altered
drastically since the building was constructed. Large amounts
of soil have moved northward down the inside of the rampérts
as shown in Figures 8, 9. This movement was probably by the
process known as earthflow (Thornbury 1965b: 91). This move-
ment is responsible for roughly two-thirds of the total strati-
graphic profile overlying the structural remains of the building.
It is not possible to make statements concerning how this move-
ment has affected the configuration of the curtain, except to
say that it has surely widened it and considerably reduced it
in height. It is possible to show some relationships of the
original configuration of the curtain to the structure in
Figure 10, although this is only a very generalized and sche-
matlc nresentation.

Within the curtain wall there is a stratigraphic unit

which warrants close attention. Iigure 6 shows a layer of shell
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and occupational detritus in the far west end. This layer
aovpears reasonably well delimited over the area at the south-
east corner of the guardhouse and the entrance excavations
(2B26T; Gusset 1968). This layer of debris apparently shows
or at least indicates the general contour of the area between
the British entrance and the probable location of the door in
the southwest corner of the guardhouse. It is felt that the
area reflects an area of activity probably associated with
the placement of the door and the main entrance (Figs. 6, 17).
This is demonstrated by the occupational debris and predict-

able range of daily activity in the area.
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CHAPTER 3

HISTORICAL DIsCUSSION AND COMMENTS

Historical Documentation

In the following discussion all information, unless other-
wise cited, is taken from Nadon (1966). Prior to discussing the
direct history of the guardhouse it is necessary to mention an
earlier structure known to have been built on the same site.

With the first construction of the fort by the French in
1751, the indirect history of the structure begins. On the plan
of Franguet of 1751, a men's barracks is shown in the location
which later became that of the guardhouse. This structure also
shows on the plan of Beausejour of 1752. However, on Brewe's
vlan of 1755 the men's barracks is shown as "torn down". It is
probable that this building was demolished during the seige of
1755. This building measured 21 ft. by 63 ft. and was probably
of wood construction. It had one chimney and was a one storey
building. The equivalent dimension of 21 ft. for both the
guardhouse and the barracks width lends itself to some speculation
concerning possibilities of re-use of parts of the earlier buil-
ding, but no more can be said of it.

There is some likelihood that we will have a small amount
of material from the barracks in the artifacts from the 2E25
excavation. Consistently throughout the overlays in Nadon's

report, the barracks i1s shown occupying the area of the later
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British guardhousecs. There is no strong evidence to indicate
that we have encountered any of its remains or materials. It
simply seems strange that there would not even be a slight
nit of detritus from such a large building. It is possible
that such acknowledgement of the barracks may be necessary at
the time when we analyze the artifacts from the excavations.
The guardhouse history

With the surrender of the Fort to the British in June
of 1755 the direct history of the guardhouse begins. After
the capture, the entrance to the fort was changed and a new
one built in the curtain between Prince William and Prince
I'rederick Bastions (Fig. 1).

Along with the new entrance (which was excavated by Gusset
in 1963 as 2826T) two guardhouses were constructed on the par-
ade sguare, one on elther side of the entrance. The date for
the construction as given by Nadon (1966: L: 13) is 1755-
1756. The dimensions are listed as 21 ft. by 27 ft. which are
the dimensions of the building excavated. It is shown in the
overlays as in the exact spot located by excavation. It is

apparznt that the structure mentioned in the revort as the

1756 British guardhouse is the structure excavated in 1968.
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It is well established that the building was constructed in
1755-56, but it is extremely imnortant to our understanding of
the Structure to know when 1t was torn down, or whether it was
simply abandoned and fell down. Both guardhouses avpear on the
vlan of 1779. In the writer's opinion, this building is not
adequately identified as the one on the sketch of 1803, although
Nadon (1966: G: 13) states that it is shown. Although it
probably was gone by 1803, this is not certain. Nadon asks if
this mizht be the officers' quarters mentioned in the return of
stores and buildinegs for that year. It is the investigator's
opinion that it was not the building so mentioned in the follow-
in ouote (Nadon 1966: C: 7): "old officers quarters, 1 storey
high, with 4 rooms, vacant". That it was this building is some-
what less than plausible due to the four rooms mentioned.
Although the structure excavated could have had four small rooms,
it would have been rather strange for the building to be divided
up into four rooms with only one large fireplace to heat the en-
tire structure. There is the possibility of stoves in such an
instance, but this is swpeculation; although a layer of coal ash
does appear in the back of the entrance to the Prince Frederick
Bastion (Korvemaker 1967). The guardhouse was apparently gone by

1823, and if not, then surely by 1833 when the fort ceased to be
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Nadon asks if this is the building shown on the 1845
sketch. It is apparently not that building because the one
chimney is shown in the center of the building. This is
possibly a misteke on the part of the artist (not unheard of),
but it is not likely thet it would have survived for nearly
100 years. A drain is shown cutting through the north part
of the structure on figure 2, and it certainly must post-date
the destruction of the guardhouse. If the‘drain were associated
with the more extensive repairs to the fort, then the only
applicable date we have would be 1776-1883. If the drain were
built at that time, then the guardhouse was even shorter lived
than we had thought. Until all of the structural reports are
completed for the site, the exact terminal date (if it can be
determined) will have to wait. The latest possible date for
the drain must have been no later than avproximately 1825 at
the latest. The presence of the drain supports the theory
that the structure was destroyed by about 1800. Regardless,
there is no building shown on the site in 1853.

The guardhouse vprobably served through the first two
Sritish occuvations of the fort, 1755-1768 and 1776-1793. When
the fort was re-occupied during the Var of 1812, the following

quote was made in reference to the fort: "so much out of repair
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as to be untenable" (Nadon 1966: 45). It is at this time
that we have no supporting evidence for the existence of the
structure, which gives further support to the view that it
was gone by approximately the béginning of the 19th century.
This is in keeping with the theory that if it was going to
be allowed to fall into disrepair it would have been when
the fort was vacant, such as it was after 1793 when the gar-
rison was withdrawn and no further evidence remained.

There is some evidence that may indicate the possibility
of a structural fire in the guardhouse. Scattered in the fill
overlying the floor in the west end of the structure were
occasional charcoal fragments. With the exception of a char-
red board (Fig. 7) the charcoal was only a light scatter. It
is possible that this is an indication of a fire which slightly
damaged the standing or partially destroyed remains of the
building. It was by no means a severe fire, if a fire at all,
but may have contributed to any decision to raze it (which is
only suggested by the evidence found). It is felt that it may
simply have caused enough damage to make the building untenable.
Hypothetically, it is also possible that the fire was started
in conjunction with any razing which took place. Any fire was

apparently not extensive nor extremely "hot". The slim evidence
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mentioned simply indicates the possibility of a partial fire
and a demolishing of the building. It apparently was not
simply allowed to fall apart and stripped of its building
materials at some point. Razing is evidenced by the extreme
lack of construction materials and the displacement of the wall
sleeper and uorights as discussed previously. It is possible
that the charcoal is not from a structural fire, and there

is no evidence for a structural fire in the vicinity of the
fireplace.

If there is sparse evidence to suggest that the building
was gone by the 19th century, there is even less to suggest
that it was standing much into the 19th century. That these
preliminary interpretations have thus far made bold statements
may be judged by the following two points: determination of
the occuﬁational svan of the guardhouse through artifact an-
alysis, and identification of the structures referred to in
the references and drawings of the 19th century which were
discussed earlier.

Let us now turn to another important question, to what
other structures of the fort is the guardhouse associated?

It is of course associated with the guardhouse at the other
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side of the entraﬁce, but we have no information on it at this
tinme, and also with the British entrance. Figure 10 shows the
relative pvositioning of the entrance and the guardhouse.

[he stratigraphic unit discussed for the southwest cor-
ner of the ghardhouse and the entrance 1s probably an area of
rother intense activity. Its central location to the gate and
to the probable area of the door of the guardhouse made it the
center of a rood deal of activity. This is evidenced br the
heavy accumulation of occupational debris that is shown in the
orofile (Figs. 6, 17) and in the excavations of 2E26T (Gusset
1963). This layer of debris, by their tightly sealed nature,
is an indication of the great physical changes (i.e. soil
movement ) that have occurred in the configuration of this area
since the British capture of the fort.

Comments on reconstruction drawing

The reconstruction drawing shown in Figure 10 is intended
to zive a generalized view of the guardhouse in relation +o
the reneral configuration of the earthworks and associated
fe-tures., The building shown in this drawing is generally

of windows and doors is conjectural. The door may have been
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located at the west end of the south wall facing the opposing
guardhouse.

A few notes are also in order concerning the configuration
of the curtain and its revetment. Although the configuration
of the curtains is not known, they were probably revetted in-
order-to nrevent erosion and mass movement of the curtain.
1t is known that the French had revetted the curtain exterior
with dry stone to the height of three feet. (Nadon 1966:

G: 3). The revetting shcwn in Figure 10 is not intended to
be vrecise, but is simply a revetment, which there probably
wes, even if we do not know of what material it was made. It
is not known if both sides of the curtains were revetted with
stone. There is no physical or documentary evidence for in-
terior revetting.

It is possible that there will be four main periods of
occupation evident at the gusrdhouse and its associated feat-
ures. These periods will probably be from 1751-55 and French,
1755-1768 and English, and 1776-1793 and Lnglish, as well as
later 19th century occupation. It is probable that a good
deal of material relating to the 19th century is present, but

at this point it is not felt that such material will relate
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directly to the occupation of the structure.

The shell-filled cultural deposit (Figs. 6, 17) is appar-
ently a temporally sealed layer (due to fast soil movement in
the ramparts) and may reflect a relatively short time span
relating to the period 1755-1793. This time span is based on
documentarv evidence only, and may be proven different. It is
apparent that a great deal of such soil movement was taking
place in short periods of time during the 18th century as
evidenced by the following quotations: "By 1761 the fosse in
front of the Prince William Bastion was nearly filled up and the
adjacent curtain was almost filled in" (Nadon 1966: C: 4).
Could this also be indicative of the curtain at the guardhouse?

From Goreham's description of the fort in 1776, the fort
was simply falling away as pointed out in his quote (Nadon 1966:
C: 5):

"the face of the bastions, curtains, etc., by being so long
exposed to the heavy rains and frost were bent down to such
a slope that one might with ease ascent any part of the fort,
which was guarded by a line of small pickets only ahout ten
feet in height (placed in a shallow ditch) that we had been
able to erect during the summer, the covert way without any
pickets and the glacis reduced almost on a level".

It is felt deposits will prove to be sealed relatively soon after

deposition due to such movement of the earkhworks,
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In reference to the occupation of the guardhouse, it is
known that there were eight men on duty at the main gate day
and night (Nadon 1966). It is not known how many men would
have been stationed in the direct vicinity of the guardhouse,
but this is a general indication of the possible complement
utilizing the structures (i.e., both guardhouses). It should
be remembered that there were two guardhouses in use at the
front gate for at least part of the military occupations. It
is possible that one of these structures was ussd more solely
for detention of prisoners and the other for the quarters of the
guards. Itvis also possible that one of the structures had
some form of cells. No evidence of cells or similar "devices
of detention" was found in the east guardhouse.

Steven Sheridan (1969) was consulted on the foreseeable
rancge of activity at the guafdhouse in times of military occu-
pation. A specific question raised was: "Could the presence
of numberous bone buttons and button blanks at the guardhouse
be attributed to the military personnel when off duty? Mr.
Sheridan felt that this building would probably not have been
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frequented by persons when off duty, as they would want to get
as far away as possible. Furthermore, he felt that if this was
the result of military occupations then it should probably be
attributed to the activities of prisoners temporarily detained
at the guardhouse. These individuals would have to be allowed
fresh air (military requirement) every day, and may well havé
been allowed to carve and cut buttons in the vicinity of the
structure. These comments are simply ideas which may have a
relevant bearing on the interpretation of artifacts from this

area.
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CHAPTER 4
ARTIFACTS

Preliminary Comments

| Artifact associations from the guardhouse excvations
will be described in the context of the three major strati-
graphic units discussed in the section on stratigraphy. Due
to varying thicknesses of the layers‘and the nature of the
inclusions occurring in the layers (i.e., large rubble, brick,
Jood, etc.), it was not always possible to be precisely sure of
the layer from which specific artifacts came during the course
of excavation. There was some erosion of layers on the north-
ward extreme of the excavations which will cause some mixing
of materials. It should generally be possible to demonstrate
differences in time for the artifact contents of the major stra-
tigraphic layers, although there will be some overlavp caused by
both cultural implications of the artifacts themselves and by
the limitations of our ability to hold to absolute soil separ-
ations during the excavations.

The artifact groupings will basically work out in terms

of the following headings: (1) materials which are directly

associated with the guardhouse occupation on both the structural

interior and exterior; (2) materials relating to the period
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of occupation through the destruction and post-occupation period;
and (3) recent materials post-dating the structures existence.
Lot-Tayer Correlation

Table 1 presents the "lot-layer correlation" in terms of
layer number, description of the layer, general layer significance,
and the lots associated with the specific layers.

Table 2 gives a spacial breakdown of lots which are believed
to reflect proveniences directly associated with the occupational
period of the structure (i.e., layer I), as well as possible
earlier occupations of the site (i.e., French occupation). This
does not include materials dating to the occupational period
which were found in proveniences which have not been tied to the
period of direct docupation (i.e., layers II and III),

The dates indicated for the artifact groupings are prelim-
inary and are based on present interpretations of the sequence
of historical events concerning the structure. It is highly
possible that artifact analysis will necessitate revisions

in these tentative interpretive dates.
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CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The excavations at the guardhouse revealed that it was
built of brick and timber construction. It was relatively a
simple building of one room with a large open fireplace in
the center of the east wall. Its dimensions were 27 ft. by
21 It.

The building is believed to have served through the first
two British occupations of the fort (1755-1766 and 1776-1793).
The building probably served as quarters for the men on guard
duty at the main gate and/or for the temporary detention of
prisoners. It is possible that the structure was utilized by
civilians during veriods when the fort was not garrisoned.

The structure is associated with another guardhouse which
was located on the oonorit> =2ide of the British entrance.
This structure would have shared the range of cultural activ-
ity centering around this area of the fort. The guardhouse
excavated thus constitutes a vortion of an activity area
composed of the main fort entrance and swo guardhouses.

The structure was robbed of its construction materials
and may have been intentionally razed. It :as avvarently

destroved near the beginning of the 19th cent'ry and was
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orobably badly deteriorated soon after the military occupation
of 1776-1793. It is possible that a structural fire partially
damazed the building and contributed to any decisions to raze
it. It is sugegested that the building was not simply allowed
to "fall apart", because of the lack of structural materials
and some evidence of nartial forceful demolition. There were
no buildings located on the site after the guardhouse.

The straticranhy of the structure reflected three major
componznts. Directly associated with the building is a layer
of occunation debris which apnsars on both the interior and
exterior of the structurz. This muterial was effectively
sealed off from more recent soil devnosition by movement of
material from the fill of the curtain at the back of the struct-
ure. This material moved downslooe of the curtain by the pro-
cess of earthflow in a northerly direction. It is probable
that this downward movement was active up to the present time.
Directly overlying this material 1s a more recent sod and top-
soil develooment.

The building constructed by the British in 1755-56 served
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the British military for the last half of the 18th century.
The structure can be considered a significant portion of the

structural evolution and military history of Fort Beausejour.
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APPENDIX I

GEOMORPHOLOGY DISCUSSION

General Discussion

In conjunction with the interpretation of the
excavations at the 2E25 guardhouse an attemrt was made
to determine the soil development processes and history
of the site of Fort DBeausejour. The range of soil
textures encountered during the excavations suggested
that the soils might be of glacial origin and an attempt
was made to determine the validity of this possibility.

The following discussion is attemped for several
reasons: apparently there has, thus far, been no attempt
to interpret the depositional methods and soil forming
processes at this site; it is felt that such will have
to e done at the time of complete interpretation of the
site, and simply because the present writer felt it was
important to his research to find out thcse tlings.
The discucseion is pot intended to be an exhaustive in-

vestigation of the geomorphology of the site, but is
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designed to answer certain fundamental questions about the
soils.

The general soil morphology of the Beausejour Ridge in-
dicates the characteristics of a general glacial enviromnment. |
dork conducted on the Anerican side of the international boun-
dary demonstrates probable Quaternary relationships for
southern New Brunswick and adjacent areas of Maine. The pres-
ence of thé international boundary has unfortunately been used
as a convenient stopping point for Yuaternary research in this
reneral area. Lven so, that the Quaternéry history of New
England is nearly entirely glacial will be demonstrated also
for adjacent areas of Canada, including the general area of
the Beausejour Ridee (Schafer and Hartshorn 1965: 113-128;
Thornbury 1965a: 152-158).

Although the glacial history of New England is sketchy,
there is no area of New England which escaped glaciation,
although none of the tills of glacial deposits can be shown
to be older than the Wisconsin Glacial Stage (Thornbury 1965a:
154). The deglaciation of Maine during the Wisconsin shows

that the disappearance of the ice-sheet was generally marked
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by development of a marginal zone of dead ice. The presence
of dead ice is a prime condition for the development of such
glacial environmental features as eskers and kame terraces
(Thornbury 1965b: 394-396; Schafer and Hartshorn 1965: 123).
Preliminary indications from the Beausejour Ridge indicate
that it may be partially of such origin, although the ridge
does contain a limestone strata which can be seen exposed

at some points (Swannack 1969).

The Chignecto Ithmus probably falls into the section
defined by Thornbury (1965a) as the "Seaboard Lowland". This
type of topography and geomorphic history seem to be éuffic-
iently different from that of the adjacent New England Upland
an’ probably for the New Brunswick Upland as well. The
width of this "lowland" varies from as little as six miles
ianonnecticut to as much as sixty miles near the Maine-New
Brunswick boundary.

It is felt that the Beasuejour Ridge should be accepted
as being a part of an area which was extensively affected by
glaciation, althoug: no specific sources were found for this

area of New Brunswick. The following discussion of soils
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hopefully will suvport the previous statements.

The basic soil of the site reflects the general pro-
verties of a glacial till. These properties include: Mone
outstanding feature of till is 1ts physical heterogeneity.
There is no size assortment and no stratification. The bulk
of the material usually is of clay, silt, or sand sizes, but
pebbles and huge boulders may be present" (Thornbury 1965b:
286). Another definition from Butzer (1964: 1C1): "Char-
acteristics of a glecial bed proper are lack of horizontal
bedding or stratification, and an absence of sorting accord-
ing to size of the heterogeneous soil products, sand, gravel,
and boulders that co<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>